1992

Leontine C. Pond and Merle G. Hyer Company v.
Equitable Life and Casualty Insurance Company,
Insurance INvestment Company, R. Earl Ross, E.
Roderick Ross, Galen J. Ross, David E. Ross II,
Diane Ross Worthen, Betsy Ross Rapps, Connie
Ross : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This appeal is from proceedings in a district court concerning an action by shareholders against related corporations and their principals. The Supreme Court had appellate jurisdiction under Subsection 78-2-2(3)(j) of the Utah Code. This Court now has jurisdiction pursuant to Subsection 78-2a-3(2)(k) since the Supreme Court transferred this case on November 2, 1992 in accordance with Subsection 78-2-2(4).

The Notice of Appeal filed June 23, 1992 (ROA at 696) conferred jurisdiction to review all Orders and Judgment adverse to plaintiffs and made final by the Order Certifying Order and Summary Judgment as Final Judgment dated June 1, 1992.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellants assert that the pertinent issues and the corresponding standard of review are as follows:

1. Should the plaintiff class have been certified under Rule 23(b)(1) or (2) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, or in the alternative under Rule 23(b)(3), where the proposed class consists of 105 holders of preferred stock having claims based on facts such as the company failing to pay dividends, and certain insiders selling all of their preferred stock to a controlled company at a price per share over 16 times as great as the members of the proposed class could obtain? This is a question of whether the trial court misapplied the law, for which no deference is owed, or abused its discretion. Call v. West Jordan, 727 P.2d 180 (Utah 1986).

2. Where over one-third (based on liquidation rights) of the stock in a holding company is purchased by the company it controls, has there been "any liquidation" under its 1944 Amended Articles of Incorporation entitling its shareholders to be paid in the manner prescribed therein? This is a question of law, with no need for deference to the trial court's decision. Transamerica Cash Reserve v. Dixie Power & Water, 789 P.2d 24 (Utah 1990).

3. Are a controlled company and its officers and shareholders insulated from any fiduciary duty to the shareholders of its holding company? This is a question of law, with no need for deference to the trial court's decision. Id.

4. In order to resolve disputes over a corporation's control, does the business judgment rule justify that corporation's secretly purchasing of all of certain insiders' preferred stock of its holding company at a price per share over 16 times as great as the price the other holders of that stock could obtain from the corporation or anyone else? This is a question of law, with no need for deference to the trial court's decision. Id.

5. Must every action for breach of fiduciary duty of the officers and directors of a corporation be brought as a derivative action? This is a question of law, with no need for deference to the trial court's decision. Id.

6. May punitive damages be awarded against the officers and directors for breach of fiduciary duty when only equitable relief involving the company, and no general or compensatory damages from the officers and directors, is specifically sought?

This is a question of law, with no need for deference to the trial court's decision. Id.

7. Were plaintiffs entitled to amend their Complaints to allege additional acts of oppression against the minority shareholders and to specifically claim a right to a partial rescission of a sale of stock when the case was still in the discovery and motion stage? This involves a question as to whether the trial court abused its discretion. Stratford v. Morgan, 689 P.2d 360 (Utah 1984).

DETERMINATIVE LAW

The interpretation of the following Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is determinative of certain issues in this appeal:

Rule 15 provides in pertinent part:

Otherwise a party may amend his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires.

Rule 23 is set forth in the addendum at the end of this Brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs are holders of preferred stock in defendant Insurance Investment Company ("II"). II holds most of the voting stock of the defendant Equitable Life and Casualty Insurance Company ("Equitable"). These companies and their principal officers, R. Earl Ross ("Earl") and E. Roderick Ross ("Rod"), are all jointly referred to as the "Equitable defendants", and sometimes herein as "defendants".

Plaintiff Leontine C. Pond ("Pond"), and later plaintiff

Merle G. Hyer Company ("Hyer"), have sought to represent a class composed of all holders of II preferred stock, except for Earl, Rod, and their relatives ("the Ross family"). The trial court declined to certify this plaintiff class.

Although since the early 1940's Equitable has grown and been quite profitable, the plaintiff class has never shared any benefits arising therefrom, nor are any foreseeable. A share of II preferred stock sold during World War II at a par value of \$1 and now represents a liquidation value of over \$80. Nevertheless dividends have never been greater than \$.06 per share, and have only been declared 3 times in the last 35 years. There is no market for the stock, but members of the Ross family have been willing to pay around \$3 per share for it.

In 1986 a dispute among members of the Ross family developed over control of Equitable. The following year, in order to end this dispute, the members in the minority were essentially allowed to liquidate their direct and indirect ownership interest in Equitable. Equitable bought all of their stock interest, including II preferred stock, for an amount approximating its liquidation value. This was paid in the form of cash and a new issue of Equitable preferred stock, with the latter likely to be redeemed over a period of about 10 years.

Although this transaction was to be kept secret, it became apparent that some transaction had been consummated. After this action was initiated, and a motion to compel was granted, discovery revealed most of the pertinent facts.

Plaintiffs sued on several bases, including the premise that since a de facto partial liquidation had taken place, they should be entitled to participate therein. The trial court ruled that they failed to state a cause of action on that basis.

Plaintiffs also based their suit on the premise that fiduciary duties were violated when defendants used the assets of Equitable to benefit only certain shareholders, namely, the Ross family shareholders that were bought out. The trial court eventually granted defendants summary judgment on this issue as well, apparently on the basis of the presumption that defendants' actions were taken in good faith reliance on their business judgment. The Equitable defendants had also argued that there could be no liability for punitive damages in the absence of a prayer for actual damages; that II was not involved in any transaction and plaintiffs were not shareholders of Equitable, and so Equitable owed them no fiduciary duty; and that Pond and Hyer had no cause of action as individual shareholders.

Plaintiffs moved to amend their complaint to include a cause of action based on oppressive treatment of the minority shareholders. That motion was denied.

Only the Equitable defendants have vigorously defended this action, and the orders and judgment have only been applicable to them. Nevertheless, these orders are appealable since the trial court certified the Order and Summary Judgment as final.

The facts in more detail are as follows:

1. Pond is a resident of Lewiston, Cache County, State

of Utah, and Hyer is a Utah corporation doing business in that same city and county. ROA at 2, 158.

2. Defendants Equitable and II are Utah corporations doing business in Salt Lake County, State of Utah, and defendants Earl and Rod are residents of that same county. ROA at 158-9, 205.

3. Pond was issued her 500 shares of II preferred stock after the death of her husband, Stillman H. Pond, upon the cancellation of the certificates that had been issued to him when he purchased them during their marriage in the early 1940's. ROA at 3.

4. Hyer is and has been at least since November of 1970 the owner of 1,175 shares of preferred stock of II. ROA at 159, 206.

5. There are a total of about 105 persons, including the named plaintiffs, who are similarly situated, and who together hold about 30% of the II preferred stock which is outstanding. ROA at 63, 475-76.

6. Pursuant to Rule 23 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, plaintiffs Pond and Hyer sought to bring this action as a class action on their own behalf and on behalf of all other similarly situated owners of preferred stock in II. ROA at 5, 160-61.

7. All other holders of preferred shares in II are similarly situated to plaintiffs except the named individual defendants and their close relatives who with them make or made up the Ross Family. ROA 475-76.

8. Many stockholders of this proposed class are probably not residents of this state, and the names of some stockholders are unknown to plaintiffs Pond and Hyer and cannot with due diligence

be ascertained by them. ROA at 160, 207. However, an effort to bring them all before the court has met with some limited success as indicated by the attempted intervention of eleven other plaintiffs. ROA at 493, 532.

9. The attorneys for the plaintiffs are experienced and capable in litigation in the field of corporate law and have actively conducted and been responsible for the plaintiffs' case herein. ROA at 2, 5, 38.

10. II is a holding company, holding Equitable common stock. ROA at 475. As of October 31, 1986, Equitable only had one class of stock outstanding, and II owned about 63.3% of that Equitable stock. ROA at 7, 39.

11. At that time II held approximately 3.717 shares of Equitable common stock for each share of its own stock outstanding, common and preferred. ROA at 15, 38.

12. Under the Amended Articles of Incorporation of II dated July 17, 1944, in "the event of any liquidation" of II, the holders of the preferred stock would be entitled to be paid at least as much for one of their shares as would be paid for each share of II common stock. ROA at 9-10, 42.

13. On November 17, 1986, Equitable offered to purchase up to 115,500 shares of its own stock for \$22.50 per share on or before December 8, 1986. ROA at 6-7, 39.

14. Pursuant to that offer, Equitable paid a total of \$2,152,404 for its own stock. No Equitable stock was purchased from II. Deposition of Earl Roderick Ross taken June 10, 1991 -

ROA at 759, 549 (Rod Depo), Exh. 1, 4th page; Addendum hereto.

15. Very few purchases of Equitable stock had taken place during the preceeding five years. The purchase price ranged from about \$2.00 to \$4.00 per share. It was not listed on any exchange and no over-the-counter sales were made. ROA at 7, 39.

16. In fact, during those preceeding five years, only members of the Ross family would purchase Equitable or II preferred stock, and then only for less than \$5 per share. Rod Depo at 120-21. Deposition of Raymond Earl Ross taken June 11, 1991 - ROA at 760, 549 (Earl Depo) at 67-71.

17. As of October 31, 1986, the Ross Family owned or controlled all or nearly all of the voting common stock of II and about 70% of the II preferred stock. ROA at 475-78.

18. As of October 31, 1986, three members of the Ross Family, Earl, Rod, Diane Ross Worthen (now known as Diane Ross Gandre), served as directors of II and Equitable. Rod Depo at 27, 29.

19. Rod and Earl determined that with the stock owned or beneficially owned by themselves and by Earl's sisters and mother, they could control II, and hence Equitable, if they could control most of the stock owned by the Roderick Earl Ross Memorial Foundation. Earl Depo at 12, 19.

20. Since they, along with Earl's sister Diane Gandre, were three of the three or four trustees of the Foundation, they arranged for a sale of about 1,200 shares of the Foundation's II common stock to Jim Bowlden for about \$30 a share, or a total of about \$35,000. Earl Depo at 11, 14.

21. Defendant Galen Ross objected to this sale by the Foundation, and submitted an offer for the same stock for a total of less than \$100 more. Earl Depo at 17-18. Despite this objection, the sale took place in 1986, which effectively resulted in the complete control of Equitable by Earl and Rod. Earl Depo at 10-14. Rod Depo at 11-13. Various other takeover attempts and litigation began after that sale. ROA at 476-77.

22. Earl and Rod withstood the threats to their control of Equitable by means of litigation and through Equitable's said purchase of its own stock set forth above. ROA at 477.

23. The threat to Earl and Rod's control was finally eliminated by Equitable's secret purchase of all of the II common and preferred stock and Equitable stock held directly or indirectly by defendants Galen Ross, Connie Ross, David Ross and Betsy Ross Rapps, the members of the Ross family who had been pushed from a position of control. ROA at 437, 476-78.

24. This was paid in the form of cash and a new issue of Equitable preferred stock, with the latter likely to be redeemed over a period of about 10 years. ROA at 422-30.

25. The 1988 Annual Statement reported that in the purchase of its own stock pursuant to the 1986 offer, and in the purchase from "a coalition," Equitable paid a total consideration of \$6,809,596 for the equivalent of 300,609 of its own shares, or an average of \$22.65 per share. As part of this purchase, Equitable bought over one-third (based on liquidation rights) of the outstanding II stock. Rod Depo, Exh. 1, 4th page, included in the Addendum hereto.

26. That same 1988 Annual Statement reported that each share it held of II stock, both common and preferred, was equivalent to 3.717 shares of its own stock "(based on liquidation rights)." Id. Thus those same liquidation rights would result in an average value of over \$84 per share of II stock.

27. In 1988 Jim Bowlden sold the II common stock he held to Earl's mother for a little over \$100,000, or a little over \$83 per share. Earl Depo at 15.

28. When Equitable made that secret purchase of stock, including II preferred stock, from the said "coalition" of insiders, it made no comparable offer to purchase the II preferred stock held by the plaintiff class, which would have meant an additional investment of less than \$1,730,000. ROA at 11, 43.

29. All of Earl's sisters are now serving as directors of Equitable, namely Lana Ross Hall, Rita Mahmood, and Julie Foster, the latter serving without voting powers. Earl Depo at 22, Rod Depo at 117.

30. Each director of Equitable receives an annual compensation for being a director of at least \$10,000. Earl Depo at 22. The total earnings of Earl and Rod have not been disclosed, in accordance with their attorney's direction. Earl Depo at 4. Earl's sisters all work for Equitable and receive additional annual compensation of about \$75,000. Earl Depo at 23.

31. Dividends have been declared or paid by II in only very few years since the issuance of the preferred stock therein, and then only at the minimum rate, 6% of the \$1 par

value. II has indicated that dividends have been paid to the preferred shareholders of II on four occasions, namely, in 1954, 1981, 1983 and 1984, and seven times total. ROA 211-12, 500.

32. Pond initiated this action by means of a Complaint dated September 21, 1989, on behalf of herself and all other similarly situated holders of preferred stock in II. ROA at 2. She then filed a Motion for Maintenance as Class Action dated September 22, 1989. ROA at 18.

33. The Equitable defendants opposed that motion, arguing that 105 members of the class were not numerous enough; Pond was not typical since others had not expressed an interest in joining the lawsuit; she had only 2% of the II preferred stock and she and her counsel had not proven they could adequately represent the class. ROA at 60.

34. This opposition proved successful, with the trial court denying Pond's Motion by means of a Minute Entry dated November 22, 1989. ROA at 84. The court later clarified that its basis for the denial was that the case was not the type appropriately pursued as a class action. The court also stated that additional authority on the matter would be considered. ROA at 738.

35. Pursuant to that invitation, Pond filed a Renewed Motion for Maintenance as Class Action dated February 13, 1990 and supported it by extensive citation to case law. ROA at 103. That Renewed Motion was denied by means of an Order dated June 20, 1990. ROA at 218.

36. Meanwhile, the parties had stipulated on May 22,

1990 to the intervention of plaintiff Hyer, and had acknowledged the filing of its Complaint dated April 18, 1990 in which it sought to be a class representative along with Pond. ROA at 201, 158.

37. To discover the pertinent documents despite the secrecy agreed upon among the defendants, plaintiffs obtained an Order Compelling Production. ROA at 275.

38. The Equitable defendants filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment dated August 8, 1990, in which they sought a dismissal of all claims against them based on the existence of a de facto partial liquidation of II. ROA at 269. An Order dated October 24, 1990 granted that Motion. ROA at 317.

39. The Equitable defendants subsequently filed a Motion for Summary Judgment as to all remaining issues, dated September 24, 1991. ROA at 390. In support of that Motion they argued, among other matters, that there could be no liability for punitive damages in the absence of a prayer for actual damages; II was not involved in any transaction and plaintiffs were not shareholders of Equitable, and so Equitable owed them no fiduciary duty; that their actions were justified on the basis of business judgment; and that Pond and Hyer had no cause of action as individual shareholders. ROA at 484, 393.

40. Pond and Hyer opposed that Motion and filed a proposed Amended Complaint showing the proposed intervention of eleven (11) additional representative plaintiffs, and including and clarifying the causes of action for oppressive conduct and for

the alternative right to partial rescission so that all shareholders would have the right to sell an equal percentage of their II preferred stock to Equitable. ROA at 495, 529.

41. However, the trial court granted the Equitable defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment by means of an Order and Summary Judgment dated December 9, 1991, and in connection therewith, refused to allow the Complaint to be amended and denied the additional intervention. ROA at 596, 603, 608.

42. The said Order and Summary Judgment decided all claims pertaining to the Equitable defendants. Therefore it was certified as a final judgment by means of an Order Certifying Order and Summary Judgment as Final Judgment (Rule 54(b)) dated June 1, 1992. ROA at 693.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Since no appealed order or judgment specified any particular basis, all arguments made by the Equitable defendants are addressed.

1. The plaintiff class should have been certified under Rule 23(b)(1) or (2) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, or in the alternative under Rule 23(b)(3). The proposed class consists of 105 holders of preferred stock, which is numerous enough.

They all have claims based on facts such as the company failing to pay dividends, and certain insiders selling all of their preferred stock to a controlled company at a price per share over 16 times as great as the members of the proposed class could obtain. Thus the similar issues overwhelmingly predominate over any variation among the members of the class.

The class is adequately represented by the representative plaintiffs and their attorneys, and the representative plaintiffs are typical of the class.

The likely remedies are such that all members of the class should be included, with no right to opt out. Although the plaintiffs have the burden to show a class action is appropriate, that burden has been met and the class action is favored.

2. Where over one-third (based on liquidation rights) of the stock in a holding company is purchased by the company it controls, there has been "any liquidation" under its 1944 Amended Articles of Incorporation, entitling its shareholders to be paid in the manner prescribed therein.

Whether there has been "any liquidation" is a question of fact. "Any liquidation" includes partial liquidation, and is not limited to any statutory definition.

3. A controlled company and its officers and shareholders are not insulated by artificialities from any fiduciary duty to the shareholders of its holding company.

It is well settled that courts will look to the substance and actualities, rather than convenient corporate formations, in order to determine the realities.

4. A corporation is not justified in secretly purchasing all of certain insiders' preferred stock of its holding company, at a price per share over 16 times as great as the price the other holders of that stock could obtain from the corporation or anyone else, especially in order to resolve disputes over a corporation's

control, despite the business judgment rule.

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