1992

Leontine C. Pond and Merle G. Hyer Company, a Utah Corporation, holders of Preferred Stock in Insurance Investment Company, a Utah Corporation, on behalf of themselves and other simliarly situated holders of such stock v. Equitable Life and Casualty Insurance Company, a Utah Corporation, Insurance Investment Company, a Utah Corporation, R. Earl Ross, E Roderick Ross, Galen J. Ross, David E. Ross IIC, Diane Ross Worthen, betsy Ross Rapps, Connie Ross, and Does 1 through 20: Brief of Appellee

FACTS

On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, we review the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Allen v. Prudential Property and Casualty Ins. Co., 839 P.2d 798, 799 (Utah 1992).

In 1986, Bennett Leasing Company (Bennett) attempted a hostile takeover of Equitable by attempting to purchase the stock of David E. Ross II, his wife Connie Ross, his sister Betsy Ross Rapps, and his uncle Galen Ross (collectively, the selling group). R. Earl Ross, Equitable's chief executive officer, and E. Roderick Ross, Equitable's president, opposed the attempted purchase by Bennett. The dispute was resolved when the selling

group agreed to sell their stock to Equitable in exchange for cash and Equitable preferred stock convertible to cash.

After considerable negotiation over several months, Equitable sent an offer to the selling group by letter dated September 25, 1987. That offer provided for an increase in the purchase price of the stock and added:

This increase in purchase price is being made hand in hand with the acceptance of the agreement as enclosed. Any changes made with the agreement will result in the decrease of the proposed purchase price. In other words, a premium is being paid to eliminate argument over the minute terms of the agreement.

The selling group did not accept the agreement as enclosed, but instead prepared, signed, and sent its own offer to Equitable on October 30, 1987. Equitable signed the agreement on November 4, and sent it back to the selling group, with a letter clarifying a few points, which letter was approved by the selling group. The final contract documents consisted of the agreement, an addendum, an escrow agreement, and the letter of clarification.

However, at closing on December 2, 1987, David E. Ross II asserted that an agreement for him to perform consulting services for Equitable, which had been included in earlier drafts of the agreement, should have been included in the final contract documents, but was not. Equitable responded that no such agreement was to be included, to which Ross replied that without same there would be no contract. An impasse was avoided when the parties agreed to "close around the issue" of the consulting agreement, and both Ross and Equitable added handwritten statements to the agreement. Ross wrote:

[B]y signing this instrument I do not waive any right or claim to pursue the Consulting Agreement pursuant to the agreement between the parties. Not given for any acceptance of any funds. In addition, acceptance of any funds pursuant to the agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of any kind.

Equitable added:

By following this directive, Equitable Life and Casualty Insurance Company does not admit or imply that there exists any "Consulting Agreement" or understanding regarding any consulting agreement. In addition, Equitable

Life and Casualty Insurance Company takes the position that receipt of funds and participation herein by David E. Ross is a waiver of rights, if any exist, by David E. Ross. Acceptance of the cash down payment by Daniel Jackson, esquire trustee account, is not a waiver of rights by David E. Ross.

The stock certificates were subsequently delivered to Equitable.

However, when the time came for David E. Ross II to endorse the stock certificates, he refused to do so, claiming a right to rescind the agreement. In response, Equitable filed a complaint for specific performance of the agreement. Ross counterclaimed for rescission of the agreement, alleging mutual and unilateral mistake and seeking damages for breach of contract and fraud. Equitable filed a motion for partial summary judgment enforcing the agreement and thereby dismissing Ross's counterclaim for rescission, which motion was granted.

The matter then proceeded to trial to the bench on David E. Ross II's remaining claim of damages against Equitable for breach of contract. Following Ross's opening statement, Equitable moved for dismissal of the case. The Court, treating the motion as a motion for summary judgment, considered the depositions and exhibits marked by the parties for trial, and granted Equitable's motion. Equitable subsequently requested and received attorney fees and costs.

David E. Ross II appeals, raising the following issues: (1) Were there sufficient material facts to establish his right to rescission under a theory of unilateral mistake, and if so, did he relinquish that right?; (2) Were there sufficient material facts to establish a breach of contract action, entitling him to either rescission or damages?; and (3) Were attorney fees properly awarded to Equitable under the contract and, if so, were such fees reasonable?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is only proper "when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Baldwin v. Burton, No. 900339, slip op. at 4 (Utah February 19, 1993) (footnote omitted); see Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). "On an appeal from a summary judgment, we construe the evidentiary material submitted on the motion and all reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom in a light most favorable to the party opposing the motion." Thurston v. Box Elder County, 835 P.2d 165, 166 (Utah 1992) (citations omitted).

"We review the district court's legal conclusions for correctness." Id. (citation omitted).

UNILATERAL MISTAKE

David E. Ross II argues that the trial court erred in granting Equitable's pre-trial motion for summary judgment because there were sufficient material facts to establish his right to rescission under a theory of unilateral mistake. Equitable responds that the trial court properly granted summary judgment because Ross cannot establish his right to rescission on the basis of unilateral mistake under any set of facts. We agree.

In Klas v. Van Wagoner, 829 P.2d 135 (Utah App. 1992), we outlined the four criteria that must be satisfied before rescission based on unilateral mistake will be granted:

1. The mistake must be of so grave a consequence that to enforce the contract as actually made would be unconscionable.
2. The matter as to which the mistake was made must relate to a material feature of the contract.
3. Generally the mistake must have occurred notwithstanding the exercise of ordinary diligence by the party making the mistake.
4. It must be possible to give relief by way of rescission without serious prejudice to the other party except the loss of his bargain. In other words, it must be possible to put him in status quo.

Id. at 138-39 (quoting Grahn v. Gregory, 800 P.2d 320, 327 (Utah App. 1990), cert. denied, 843 P.2d 516 (Utah 1991)).

As to the first criterion, there are two kinds of unconscionability: procedural and substantive. Id. at 139. Procedural unconscionability centers on the "relative positions of the parties and the circumstances surrounding the execution of the contract," Jones v. Johnson, 761 P.2d 37, 39 (Utah App. 1988) (quoting Bekins Bar V Ranch v. Huth, 664 P.2d 455, 461 (Utah 1983)), and occurs "where there is an absence of meaningful choice and where lack of education or sophistication results in no opportunity to understand the terms of the agreement." Id. (citing Resource Management Co. v. Weston Ranch and Livestock

Co., 706 P.2d 1028, 1042 (Utah 1985)). "Substantive unconscionability occurs when contract terms are 'so lopsided as to unfairly oppress or surprise an innocent party,' or where there is 'an overall imbalance in rights and responsibilities imposed by the contract, excessive price or a significant cost-price disparity, or terms which are inconsistent with accepted mores of commercial practice.'" Klas, 829 P.2d at 139 (quoting Jones, 761 P.2d at 40).

Applying the foregoing to the facts of this case, we are not convinced that the alleged mistake was so grave as to make enforcement of the contract unconscionable. First, as to procedural unconscionability, there is no indication in the facts that the relative positions of the parties resulted in unequal bargaining positions. To the contrary, the facts show that the parties continually negotiated from equal positions. Nor do the facts indicate that there was an absence of meaningful choice on David E. Ross II's behalf, or that he suffered any lack of education or sophistication that resulted in an inability to understand the terms of the agreement. Instead, the facts show that the parties engaged in many highly sophisticated negotiations, in which numerous substantive changes were made to the agreement. Thus, there was no procedural unconscionability.

Nor was there substantive unconscionability. Utah appellate courts have consistently held that:

sellers and buyers should be able to contract on their own terms without the indulgence of paternalism by the courts in the alleviation of one side or another from the effects of a poor bargain. They should be permitted to enter into contracts that may actually be unreasonable or which may lead to hardship on one side.

Park Valley Corp. v. Bagley, 635 P.2d 65, 67 (Utah 1981) (citation omitted); accord Klas, 829 P.2d at 139-40. This is especially true when the parties are dealing at arms length. Park Valley Corp., 635 P.2d at 67.

In the case at bar, extensive negotiations took place in which numerous items were added to and deleted from the agreement. Given the parties' equal bargaining positions, it is clear that the contract terms were not so lopsided as to unfairly oppress or surprise Ross, nor was there an overall imbalance in rights and responsibilities imposed by the contract. We therefore conclude that enforcement of the contract in this case is not unconscionable.

Additionally, as to the third criterion, David E. Ross II has not shown that the mistake occurred notwithstanding the exercise of ordinary diligence by him. On October 30, 1987, the selling group, of which Ross was a member, prepared, signed, and sent a contract to Equitable. Equitable then signed the contract and sent it back to the selling group, along with a letter clarifying a few points. It was up to Ross at that point to exercise ordinary diligence in examining the agreement prior to the selling group's acceptance. However, he did not raise the issue of the consulting agreement at that time, but waited until closing on December 2, 1987, at which time he agreed to "close around the issue" of the consulting agreement. Thus, even viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Ross, if there was any mistake on the part of Ross, it was entirely due to his own negligence in not discovering and correcting what he regarded to be an error in the parties' agreement. Under such circumstances, we cannot say that "the mistake must have occurred notwithstanding the exercise of ordinary diligence by the party making the mistake." Klas, 829 P.2d at 138-39 (quoting Grahn, 800 P.2d at 327); see generally John Call Engineering, Inc. v. Manti City Corp., 743 P.2d 1205, 1210 (Utah 1987) (party seeking rescission on the basis of unilateral mistake must establish that error occurred despite that party's exercise of due care); Davis v. Mulholland, 25 Utah 2d 56, 475 P.2d 834, 835 (1970) (party is not entitled to rescission if mistake occurred as a result of that party's own negligence).

Accordingly, because David E. Ross II did not fulfill two of the four criteria necessary to justify rescission on the basis of unilateral mistake, the trial court did not err in granting Equitable's pre-trial motion for summary judgment on that claim.

BREACH OF CONTRACT

David E. Ross II appeals the trial court's order granting Equitable's second motion for summary judgment, alleging that the agreement between the parties was ambiguous and that sufficient material facts existed to establish a breach of contract action, entitling him to either rescission or damages. Equitable responds that the contract was unambiguous and did not provide for a consulting agreement for Ross. Thus, Equitable argues, the trial court properly granted its motion.

"Questions of contract interpretation not requiring resort to extrinsic evidence are matters of law, and on such questions we accord the trial court's interpretation no presumption of correctness." Zions First Nat'l Bank v. National Am. Title Ins. Co., 749 P.2d 651, 653 (Utah 1988). Furthermore, whether a contract is ambiguous is itself a question of law. Village Inn

Apartments v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., 790 P.2d 581, 582 (Utah App. 1990) (citing Faulkner v. Farnsworth, 665 P.2d 1292, 1293 (Utah 1983); Property Assistance Corp. v. Roberts, 768 P.2d 976, 977 (Utah App. 1989)). "Contract language may be ambiguous if it is unclear, omits terms, or if the terms used to express the intention of the parties may be understood to have two or more plausible meanings." Id. at 583 (citations omitted). However, a contract term is not ambiguous simply because one party ascribes a different meaning to it to suit his or her own interests. Larson v. Overland Thrift and Loan, 818 P.2d 1316, 1319 (Utah App. 1991) (citation omitted), cert. denied, 827 P.2d 476 (Utah 1992). Moreover, if we determine that the contract terms are clear and unambiguous, "we interpret them according to their plain and ordinary meaning and extrinsic or parol evidence is generally not admissible to explain the intent of the parties." Id. (citing Faulkner, 665 P.2d at 1293; Valley Bank & Trust Co. v. U.S. Life Title Ins. Co., 776 P.2d 933, 936 (Utah App. 1989)).

As an initial matter, we address David E. Ross II's argument that the selling group accepted Equitable's September 25, 1987 offer, and that since that offer contained a provision that a consulting fee of \$200,000 to be paid to David E. Ross II for being Equitable's legal advisor for five years, such provision should be read into the agreement between the parties. Even viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Ross, such an argument is untenable.

Although Equitable's September 25 offer did provide for a consulting fee to be paid to Ross, that offer also provided that the agreement must either be accepted as a whole or rejected:

This increase in purchase price is being made hand in hand with the acceptance of the agreement as enclosed. Any changes made with the agreement will result in the decrease of the proposed purchase price. In other words, a premium is being paid to eliminate argument over the minute terms of the agreement.

When an offer specifies the manner in which it must be accepted, it can only be accepted in the specified manner. Otherwise mutual assent is lacking, and no contract is formed. Crane v. Timberbrook Village, Ltd., 774 P.2d 3, 4 (Utah App. 1989); see generally Burton v. Coombs, 557 P.2d 148, 148-49 (Utah 1976). Thus, the selling group's October 30, 1987 offer, which

changed numerous provisions of Equitable's September 25 offer,¹ must be viewed as a rejection of and counter-offer to Equitable's September 25 offer. Accordingly, the selling group's October 30 offer and the addendum, escrow agreement, and Equitable's November 4, 1987 letter of clarification constitute the agreement in question in this case, and we examine those documents for ambiguity.

In doing so, we conclude that the agreement between the parties is clear and unambiguous. Although some of the extrinsic evidence presented to the trial court indicates that earlier drafts of the contract included a provision for a consulting agreement for David E. Ross II, resort to that extrinsic evidence is not required in this case, since such provision is simply not included in the final draft. The final contract, which was drafted by the selling group, makes no reference to a consulting agreement, and this was the offer which was accepted by Equitable on November 4, 1987, and eventually became the agreement between the parties. Given the fact that the selling group, of which David E. Ross II was a member, drafted this offer, which did not include a consulting agreement, it would be grossly inequitable at this point for this court to now go back and insert a consulting agreement into the parties' agreement. Accordingly, we decline to do so.

Furthermore, the only reference to a consulting agreement whatsoever is contained in the addendum to the agreement, and this reference plainly fails to establish the existence of such an agreement. That provision simply provides, in pertinent part:

2. Offset. The redemption, or purchase price of the Equitable Preferred Stock owned or attributed to the Selling Group and redeemed or purchased by Equitable shall be offset and decreased by the amount of federal taxes, interest and penalties, incurred and paid by Equitable as a result of an audit or audits in which Equitable's income tax obligation is increased from adjustments made as a result of the deduction as an ordinary and reasonable expense of any of the

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